FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUN 2 1998

ROBERT THOMAS,

:

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

vs.

:

Case No.

93070

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Petitioner,

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CYNTHIA J. DODGE Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0345172

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 28, 1997, Detective Maney was sent to the residence of Mr. and Mrs. Crall on information that marijuana was being sold from the residence. Maney obtained consent to search the residence and marijuana was eventually found inside. At that point, narcotics detectives arrived, and Maney went outside and sat in his patrol car.

While Maney was in his patrol car, the Petitioner drove up to the house, parked his car in the driveway, and got out. As the Petitioner walked toward the rear of the car, Maney got out of his vehicle and met the Petitioner at the rear of the car. Maney asked the Petitioner his name and whether he had a driver's license. Maney made the request because the Petitioner was in the driveway of a residence where arrests were being made for narcotics offenses. At that time, Maney had no idea that there were narcotics in the Petitioner's car.

A check of the Petitioner's driver's license revealed an outstanding warrant. Maney arrested the Petitioner and took him inside the Crall residence. Maney then went back outside and searched the car as incident to the Petitioner's arrest. As soon as Maney opened the driver's door, he found a baggie with some type of white residue. Maney also found three small bags of a white substance in the glove box. All of the baggies tested positive for methamphetamine. Five minutes elapsed between the time that the Petitioner exited his car until Maney searched the car.

Following a hearing, the trial court granted the Petitioner's motion to suppress based on <u>State v. Howard</u>, 538 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), concluding that where an individual has already exited a vehicle and subsequently is arrested on an outstanding warrant, a search of the vehicle is unlawful.

The state appealed the order of the trial court and the Second District Court of Appeal reversed. State v. Thomas, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1208a (Fla. 2d DCA May 15, 1998). The Second District held there does not have to be a nexus between the arrest of the occupant of a vehicle and the subsequent search of that vehicle. Citing New York v. Belton, 453 U. S. 454 (1981), the court justified the search because it was not a preplanned pretext to conduct a warrantless search of the driver. Thomas.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in this case conflicts with the decisions of the Fifth District in State v. Bennett, 516 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), and State v. Howard, 538 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), which hold that an officer cannot search a vehicle incident to arrest once the occupant of the vehicle has voluntarily exited the vehicle. This case also conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District in State v. De-Angelis, 578 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), for the same reason. This Court has taken jurisdiction to hear a case from the Fifth District, State v. Johnson, 696 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997),

containing an identical issue. For these reasons, this Court should accept discretionary jurisdiction in this case.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT IN THE INSTANT CASE CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT IN State v. DeAngelis, 578 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), AND THE DECISIONS OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT IN State v. Bennett, 516 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), AND State v. Howard, 538 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989).

In this case, the Petitioner drove into a driveway, got out of his car, and walked to the back of his car. The officer sitting outside the residence in his vehicle met the Petitioner at the rear of his car. The officer had no reason to conduct a Terry stop of the Petitioner when he drove up to the residence. For that reason, he asked the Petitioner if he would provide his driver's license. It was only when the officer discovered an outstanding warrant that the officer had any reason to arrest or to further detain the Petitioner. The Second District Court of Appeal held that a search of the vehicle was permissible precisely because the officer had no reason to arrest the Petitioner beforehand.

The decision in the instant case conflicts with the decision of the Fifth District in <u>State v. Howard</u>, 538 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), and the cases cannot be distinguished on the facts. In <u>Howard</u>, the officer followed a defendant for whom he knew a warrant had been issued. The defendant got out of the car with a pouch in his hand. He saw the police officer, put the pouch back into the car, and locked it. The officer then detained the defendant to

verify the warrant. When the officer obtained verification, the defendant was arrested. The defendant asked his brother to take his keys and not to let the police search the car. The officer got the keys first and searched the vehicle which contained contraband. The court held that the search was not incident to arrest because there was "no valid need or reason" to search the defendant's car incident to arrest. In this case, as in Howard, the arrestee was already outside the car when the officer approached him. The facts in this case are better than in Howard, because in Howard the officer knew of the warrant while the defendant was in the car. In the instant case, the officer did not even know of the existence of the warrant until the Petitioner was voluntarily outside of his car for a period of time. For this reason, the cases cannot be reconciled on the facts and a conflict exists.

In the instant case the Second District implies that <u>Howard</u> is no longer good law in light of <u>State v. Saufley</u>, 574 So. 2d 1207 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). However, <u>Howard</u> has never been overruled. More importantly, <u>Saufley</u> is easily distinguished from <u>Howard</u> because in <u>Saufley</u> the defendant was seen driving the car that was eventually searched in excess of the speed limit and weaving back and forth across the road. In that case, the defendant was pursued by the officer and did not stop his vehicle for two miles even thought the officer had turned on his lights and siren. When the defendant stepped out of the car, he had trouble with his balance, smelled of alcohol, and appeared flushed with bloodshot eyes. Although the officer did not search the car immediately, this case

can be distinguished because Saufley committed a crime <u>in the car</u> as the officer pursued.

This case also conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District in <u>State v. DeAngelis</u>, 578 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), In <u>DeAngelis</u>, the court held that the search of the defendant's BMW could not be justified as a search incidental to arrest (even if the arrest had been valid) because the defendant had left his car in the parking lot and was arrested in the hotel lobby.

This case also conflicts with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in State v. Bennett, 516 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). In Bennett, the police had obtained information the defendant was involved in a controlled buy of narcotics. The police kept the defendant under surveillance for 30 days. About a week before the arrest, the arresting officer learned that Bennett's driver's license had been suspended. On the day of the arrest, the officer watched Bennett drive to a parking space at his apartment. The officer pulled in behind Bennett and blocked his exit. Bennett got out of the car and started to walk toward his apartment. He was intercepted by the officer and arrested.

In this case, the Second District distinguishes <u>Bennett</u> saying that the arrest of the Appellee was not a pre-planned pretext to carry out a warrantless search of the vehicle. The Second District does not mention, however, that upon motion for rehearing, the <u>Bennett</u> court also rejected the state's argument that the search was lawful under <u>Belton</u> because the officer knew the defendant was

driving with a suspended license. The <u>Bennett</u> court disapproved of the holding in <u>McLendon</u>, stating:

The distinction between <u>Belton</u> and the instant arrest of Bennett for the driving offense is that Bennett was not the occupant of the vehicle at the time of his arrest as were the defendants in <u>Belton</u>. Bennett had left his car and was en route on foot to his apartment when arrested. The state has adduced no evidence of the distance between Bennett and his vehicle at the time of his arrest. Given a warrantless search, this burden at all times was upon the state.

State v. McLendon, 409 So. 2d 1308 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 500 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 1986), extended Belton to justify the search of a truck where its driver was arrested within a service station some 20 to 30 feet away from the door of the truck and about three minutes after he had been in the service station. There is nothing in Belton or in the prior Chimel¹ or Carroll² cases to justify this extension.

The language of <u>Bennett</u> squarely conflicts with the decision in the instant case because it is absolutely clear from the opinion in the instant case that the Petitioner was not the occupant of the vehicle at the time the officer obtained probable cause for arrest (or even reasonable suspicion for a stop). He was outside of the car when he was first encountered by the officer and no contact had been initiated by the officer until the Petitioner had voluntarily left his car.

This Court has granted jurisdiction to review a case which contains an issue which is virtually identical to the issue in this case. In <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 696 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), the

¹ <u>Chimel v. California</u>, 395 U.S. 752 (1969).

² Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132 (1925).

Fifth District held that the occupant of a vehicle cannot avoid the consequences of the <u>Belton</u> rule by stepping outside of the automobile as the officer approaches. In <u>Johnson</u>, the vehicle was parked in a parking garage. As officers on bicycles approached, the occupants of the vehicle jumped out of the car. The officer asked if he could talk to the driver. The driver approached and placed his hand in his pocket. When the officer asked the driver to remove his hand from his pocket, the driver actually emptied his pocket to reveal contraband. <u>Id</u>. at 882. This Court has accepted jurisdiction to review <u>Johnson</u>. <u>Johnson</u> v. <u>State</u>, Case no. 91,328, <u>review granted</u> November 17, 1997. Although review was granted on another issue (the request for the defendant to remove his hands from his pockets), the Supreme Court has jurisdiction to review the entire decision.

For these reasons, this Court should grant jurisdiction to review this case.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court accept discretionary jurisdiction to review the opinion in the instant case.