045

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 18 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT THOMAS,

Petitioner,

v.

FSC No. 93,070

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

_____ /

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE SECOND
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

✓
ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0238538

✓
PATRICIA E. DAVENPORT
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0228796
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Contrary to the assertions of Petitioner, there is no conflict between the decision of the Second District and the cases cited by Petitioner from the Fourth District and Fifth District. In the instant case, the Belton rule, authorizing the unplanned, unanticipated arrest of the recent occupant of the automobile, is clearly applicable, as distinguished from the cases relied on by Petitioner, in which there was a preplanned pretext to conduct a warrantless search of the driver.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

**WHETHER THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S
DECISION IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY
CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF FOURTH DISTRICT
COURT OF APPEAL AND THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW
INVOKING THE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION OF
THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT. (Restated)**

The Petitioner seeks to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of the Court, arguing that the Second District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District in State v. DeAngelis, 578 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), and the decisions of the Fifth District in State v. Bennett, 516 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), and State v. Howard, 538 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). The State responds that this Court should not entertain jurisdiction in the instant case, because the cases relied on by the Petitioner are not in direct and express conflict with the decision of the Second District below.

Art. V, § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution enables the Supreme Court to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another district court of appeal or the Supreme Court on the same question of law. See also, Fla. R. App. P. 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iv). "Express" means to "represent in words" and "to give expression to." "Expressly" means "in an express manner." Jenkins v. State, 385

So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980).

A limitation of review to decisions in "direct conflict" evinces a concern with decisions as precedent as opposed to adjudications of the rights of particular litigants:

A conflict of decisions ... must be on a question of law involved and determined, in such that one decision would overrule the other if both were rendered by the same court; in other words, the decisions must be based practically on the same state of facts and announce antagonistic conclusions. 21 C.J.S. Court's § 462.

Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808, 811 (Fla. 1958). Thus, for there to be direct conflict the factual scenarios in each case must be identical with the respective courts reaching opposing holdings.

A review of the Second District's decision below indicates a lack of direct and express conflict when compared with the decisions relied on by the Petitioner. In the instant case, the Second District held that a defendant did not have to be in the vehicle at the time of the arrest and subsequent search in order for the search to be valid under New York v. Belton, 453 U.S. 454 (1981), so long as the person had recently vacated the car. The Second District went on to distinguish State v. Howard, supra, and State v. Bennett, supra, correctly finding that in the instant case there was no preplanned pretext to conduct a warrantless search of the driver as in the Fifth District cases, but rather involved the unplanned, unanticipated arrest of the recent occupant of the

automobile, therefore, the rule in Belton applied. Additionally, the facts in State v. DeAngelis, supra, do not fall within the Belton rule, thus that decision is not in conflict with the decision in the instant case either. Petitioner does not assert that the decision in State v. Johnson, 696 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), is in conflict with the decision in the instant case or with the Belton rule. Because there is no divergence between the courts on the question of law responded to, there is no conflict between the instant case and DeAngelis, supra, Bennett, supra, and Howard, supra, and, thus, no basis for this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing facts, arguments, and authorities, this Honorable Court should decline to exercise discretionary jurisdiction because the Petitioner has failed to show direct and express conflict.